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FASHINGTCN'S READQUARTERS: ITs HISTORY AKD RESTORATION

by

Yel¥in J. Weig,
Agsistant Research Tedohniclan.

Pending a mors complets statexent on the history and
furnisghings of Waghington's Headquarters, to be inecluded in the
pow Suide Nanual, now {n preparation, it has beon deemed advisable
to give the gulde staff a brief but helpful “summary on thia subject.

Prom the Lest evidence now awmilable, the Ford Yansion
appears to have been built by Col, Jacodb Ford, probably in collabor-
ation with his sonr, {ol, Jacob Ford, Jr., betweem 1772 and 1774.

The Forde were a walleto-do family, vhose interessts lay prinecipally
in iron works and land. During the Revelutionary ¥ar, they alseo
wore subsidiged by the State of New Jorsey for the majintenance of
a powder mill on the Whippany River, not far east of the house.
This mill eupplied much amnunition for tho American Continental
Amy.

Architocturally, the Ford iansion is of the Ungligh High
Remaissance style developed in thes seventeonth century by Inigo
Jonse, which becare the familimr type for the eightesenth century
mansiona of Amsrica. This style is oharacterized by a symmetrical
facade, strong horizontal lires produced by a heavy, rich cornice
{(and in this cmnse also by the belt course at the szeocond floor line),
and by a hipped roof. The characteristic formality was best obtained
with stone or brick, dut wood was often used bscauae it wag chsaper,
and was believed to be drysr. The Ford ¥amsion iz bhullt of brick
with a wooden exterior finish ard interioer plastered walls.

As ir all good architecture, the attention is fooused by
8 daminating feature ~- in this case the fine doorwny snd window
above. These are both derived from the Falladian wotive of an
arohed central oponing flanked by two miner, sguare-hesded openings.
The doorway is properly the more elaborate and is decorated with
engaged lonle ocolonsttes and enriched cornices, and by a fanlight
of interlacing design. The plan of the houss, with its prominent
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In 1777, when the Contlnental Army encamped for the winter
near Madliason, in the Loantaka Valley, the light infentry regiment
of Colonel Richard Olney oocupied the house as barracks for a peried
of almost two weeks (Januery 6~18). Just how the rooms were used
at this time is not known. It was during that winter that Fort Nomn-
songe was built, that Washington made hls headquarters at the Arnold
Tavern on Morristown Green, and thet Colonel Jacob Ford and his son,
Colonel Jacob, Jr,, both died.

Three years later, when the Continental Army agein had its
winter encampment near Morristown, this time about three miles south-
west of the village, in Jockey Hollow, Washington was invited to use
the house as his headquarters by lrs. Theodosia Ford, the widow of
Colonel Jacob Ford, Jr. He gladly accepted. A ocertificate signed
by one of his aide-de-camps on July 26, 1780, tells us that "the
Commander in Chief took up his quarters at Mrs. Fords at Morris
Town the first deay of Deciémber 1779, that he left them the 234«
of June 1780, and that he occupled two Ffooms below; all the upper
floor, Kitchen, €ellar, and Stable. The {§table was built and the
two Rooms above Stairs finished at the public expense, and & well,
which was Entirely useless and filled up before, put in thorough
repair by walling %oc." Washington himself, in a letter to Quarter-
master~General Nathanael Groene dated Jamuary 22, 1780, wrote as
follows: "I have been at my prest. quarters asince the lst. day of
Decr., and have not a Kitchen to Cook a Dlmnner in, altho' the Logs
have been put together some considerable time by my own Guard; nor
is there & place at this moment in which & servant can lodge with
the smallest degree of comfort. Lighteen belonging to my family and
all Y¥rs. Fords are cromded together in her Kitehen and scerce one of
them able to speak for the colds they have caught.” By "elghteen
belonging to my family”, the Commander-in=Chief referred, of course,
to his official family, including his aide~de=camps, of whom Alexander
Hamilton and Tench Tilghmen were the most important. It inoluded,
also, Lrs. Washington, who was with him at Morristoem for some consid=-
erable time.

This is the only positive contemporary evidence we have as
to how the house was used during the winter of 1779-80, but the hias-
torien Benson J. Loasing, in his Fleld Book of the American Revolution,
published in 1852, records some additional information which he acquired
from Judge Babriel H. Ford, the son of Colonel Jacob Ford, Jr., im
1648, His statement is as follows: ™The general and his sulte ocecupied
the whole of the larger building, except two rooms on the eastern side
of the main passage, which were reserved for Mrs. Ford end her family.
The lower front room, on the left of the door, was his dining=room, and
the apartment over it was his sleeping-room while Mrs. Washington was
at headquarters, He had two log additions made to the house, one for
& kitchen, on the east end, and the other, on the west end, was used
es the offices of Washington, Hamilton, and Tilghman.® In connesctlon
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with this statement, it is well to point out "ashingten's ovm roference,
in his letter of 1780 to Orecne (see abowve), to a log kitchen, and also
that archeological invewtigation revealed evidencs that s small sbructure
of ecme kind had ones sbhutted the east wnll of the present rostored
kitchen wing, In the Headquarters itself, it appeared from structural
exnmination of the framing that the original window in the wost wall

of tho northwest, first floor room (%ashington's Office) was at one
time replaced by a door, and the door still later replaced by a window,
It 1s possible that the door my have teen inserted in place of the
original window to zive Hashington ahd hiz staff eagy aceess (remenber
that tho winter of 177580 was & severs ore) to the log office building
roforred t0 by Losaing, if mch e ﬁr@tm indeed existing.

And now as to the restoration of Vashington's Heasdquarters,
completed by the Natlenal Fark Service in 1539, In gemersl, it may
bo said that all sbructural featules dating frem the Colenial peried,
excopt where rot or decay made thair replacement with new meterial
poeitivoly easomtinl, have been retalined, Features which dated from
aftor 1779-30, the date of Warshington's occupanoy and hence the
poriod of groatest historical olgnificance for the mansion, were
removod and the origimal festures vesiorsd, ac fer es rescarch made
possible, or replaced by featurcs of appropriate Coloninal design, as
indicated by known oxamples of other Colenial architecture in northern
Yev Jorssy. A very fow concossions to modern needs have been made to
accemodate henting, plumhing, and electrio end telephens wystemo,

Tho windows of 1938 in tha Ford iansion wers of the Victorien
pericd (late ninstesnth cenvury), excopt for some original nash 4n the
upper portion of the wing, vhich had 8"x10" panes, a typioal Colenial
size. Now sazh, of appropriste Colonlal design, with 8"x107 panes,
wore therefore placed throughout the building, wherever necsssory, as
part of the restoration. The ;lasz used wasz odiained from ather old
Colonial dbuildings which had been digmantled, Ferbtoration of the
orizinal lacewoerk fanlight in the cemtral window above the main doore
way was included &n this worke The bacement windows of 1936 had
modern sashe Those, w th their framss, vwore removed; and wood grilles
and fromes, such os formerly existed at the Tashington Tawera In
Bagking Ridge, Hew Jersey, were installed. %eod grilles wore typical
basenent window proteostion from New Englend to Florida during the
Coloninl poried.

The first and second floor window blinds of 1938 were only
about forty or fifty ysarz olde The characteristic Colonial window
covering in northern Hew Jorsey for houses of tho Headquarfiers type
wns panelled shutters over the lower windows and fixed, louveirdd
blinds over tho upper. Thiz schoze was therefors followsd in roe
storing theo Ford Mansion. The deslgn detalls wore taken from the
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01d Chateau in Blizmbeth, lew Jerassy, and from the lLid;erwood House
in Horristowmn.

In the wing, several chan.es wero made in the fenoastretion,
The window on ithe sast side of the hall in 1938 waps originelly =
doorway, as revealed by & out inthe boarding outs.de snd by examin-
ation of the frameworks The orlginal Colonial dour had besn moved
one bay east, taking the place of a window in the same loocation,.
These two ieaiiires wers therefore transposed in the restoration.
On the resr or north side, it wag found that the two contral win-
dows and f'remes of 1938 (one on sach floor) were entirely moderm,
and that tvhe originel framéwork sllowed for no windows here, These
windows were therefore removed and the openinge closad in the res-
toration, 7The door at the east end of the rear wing elevation was
indicatdd te be an alteration by the framing and was roplaced by a
window, which geena o have been the original construction st that
loocation.

While the east chimney is original, it was altored by the
Washington Association of New Jermsey many yesrs ago to allow the
installation of a heatlng range for the custodian, who thon used
the kitchen as living quarters. 7The original Inteh oven wee removed
in this procoss. Yhen lnveatigating the house as it stood in 1936,
the architvect found that seams showed in the chimney stonework,
linlug with the edge of the foundation, emnd thet those sesms came
togebher in o semi~-circle at & line whore evideuntly the dome of
the oven originally abutted the chimney. The nasoury within these
soans wag removed snd found to heve bhean laid with modern morber;
and the eavity when o leaned out phowed the exact form of the
damical vault, while the foundation unsovered outgide ehowed its
vrojeoction. In line with this evidense, the oven wes restored,
the general provedent beiny the oven in an old Colonial houase ab
Brookside, New Jersey. The ocaps on all three chlimneys of the
building as 1t atocd in 1838 had obviously Leen built up with modern
brick and mortar; but as thoy wore good below the heavy topping ocut
wore retained, with one or iwo new topping courses along the lines
of good Colonial deslgn for this section of the couniry. As one
chimney was of modern brick, all three were painted white.

The wood gtops of 1934, being modern, were also removed.
Unfortunately, no evidence oxlsted as to the original form or
naterial of theoas steps, but in relatod mangiong in this vicinity,
such 85 the Dey louse at FPreakness and the Old Chateau at Elizabeth,
local sandstone was used. The wood stops were thereforse replaced
with brown sandstone steps of Colonial design.

ihe front dormers of 1938 wore built on top of the roof
oongtruotion; and the thin muntins of the sash, the large glass size,
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and the character of their trim pointed to about 1830 as the date
when they were built, BRecords of the Washington Assoclation showed
that the large rear dormers of 1938 were added in 1503-04, All
dormers were therefore removed in the restoration, and a new roof
of hand-split red cedar shingles applied in line with good Colonial
design for this type of house.

In the interior of the mansion as it stood in 1938, it
was discovered that alterations of the two northwest rooms and the
wing had been made about 1830, Neither of the two northwest rooms
had any trim older than this, except perhaps the mantel in the
upper rocm, which vas rstainsd, The mantel in the lower room in
1988, said to have oome from Washington's room at the Armold Tavern,
his headquarters in the winter of 1777, was actually early ninee
teenth century in period, and wae therefore diascarded. The chief
alteration to this lower room during the nineteenth century had
been the cutting back of the chimmney dreast, involving destruetion
of the original fireplaneces, As mrt of the restoratlon, therefors,
this chimney and fireplace were rebuilt to fit the original floor
framing, the design of both fireplace and mantel being idantiocal
with that in the room directly across the hall (the lower northe
east room of the main building).

There was no evidence whatevor as to the original trim
in the two northwest rooms of 1938, Thls was therefore restored to
match that in the rooms on the east side of the main building, It
also wag necassary to carry healting duots from the firet to the second
floor west rooms. Those ducts are concealsd in the cupboards built
againat the south wall of tho northwest first floor roems Cupbeards
in this position are familiar Peatures of Colonial houses in Vew
Jersey, such as the Washington's Headquarters at Somervills, the
Vinfield Soott House (now destroyed but architecturally recorded
before its destruction) at Elirzabeth, and the Dey House at Preakmess,

The plaster of 1938 was removed from walla and ceilings
in all rooms of the building exeept the northesst first and second
floor rooms of the main section, where it was repaired, The modern
plaster throughout the rest of the house was in bad conditlon and
was removed for study purposes, except in the lower hall of the main
duilding, where, being in good condition, it was retained. The
finigh of the new plaster simulates Colconlal precedent.

Almost all original hardware throughout the bdbuilding was
replaced by new many years ago. However, marks on the doors indicated
the size and location of old hinces and locks. These marks wore used
in designing the new hardware, which 1s all hand-forged and stamped
with the date, 1839, All new wood and stonswork in the bullding is



also stampeé, 1938, 1In the wing, vhore now hardmrs wes needed, and
where no evidence remeined for it, the designs wore inspired by early
New Jersey examples.

Fertunately, all original firsplaces remained in the building
68 1t stood in 1938, except the one in the first floor northwest room,
a8 reforred to above, HMost of them had been replastered, however,
with cement, This oement plagter was removsd; and lime and sand plaster,
guch ag was found in the back of the fireoplace in the first floor northe
eegt room of the main building, was substituted., Kodern paint on the
stons facings of thg“gﬁgm:lrs fireplaces was removed., In the bullding
as it stood in 1938,,the original stome hearths had boen rsplaced by
cement construction, These csment hearths wore accordingly removed
as part of the restoratlon, and mew stone hearths imstalled to mateh
those whieh still ramiansd in the house,

¥odern flooring in the kitchen and in the second floor portion
of the wing was removed aa part of the rastoration, and replaced with
old floor boards taken from the atiis., The flecors ia the main house,
being old, were retaimed, only a very few iinor ropairs belng noces-
sary, MHedern paint wms soraped from all the flocra, and a natural,
waxed finieh, typlcally Colonial, applied.

During the course of restoration work, the wing presented the
groatest problem, All plaster wos removed to allow a complete exnme
inatlion of the framing. It wvas found that a sot of mortise holas in
the kitchsn ceilin; timbers occurred tern feet south of the north wall,
and nine end one-half inches further south in tho service hall to the
wost, This was good ovidence that the pertitions were not plamned
to be as at prosent, but due to the prest age of the existing two-
inch oak plenk partitions, it did not eeem proper to romove them,
especially as the changs might well have teken place in ¥arhington's
day., The oelling beane of the kitecnen were left exposed, as they
undoubtedly were in the (olonial pericd. ¥inor repairs were necease
sary in the fireplsee lintel, which had been burned through in three
places, The mantel boards which coversd this orizinal lintel in
1938, and which were modern, were appropriatsly removed,

Restoration of the second floor of the wing involved re-
plaoing partitions whioh had been removed by the Washington Assocl-
ation many yesrs ago to form a moeting room for that organisatién,
Structural evidence showed that a partition had originally exiated
east of the stair, agalnst the exposed posts, and that another ran
east and west over the mortise holes in the kitchen ceiling beams,
This evidence was followed in the restorations The rest room and
service facility closet of 1938were retained, but were subdivided to
conceal the plumbing flxtures,
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The original form of the main sbteir &t Washington's Head-
quarters has been a perplexing provlem since the Hational Park Service
acquired the house in 1933. Partidularly, aside from being dangeroug,
it seemed out of character with the general struoture, and its design
was in striking contrast to that of stalrs in other New Jersey Colonial
houses of tho same elaboration, such as the 0ld Chatesu at Elisabeth.
Its stesp 1acline wes eospecially unusual. Moreover, the stair itself,
having only a nonedeccript handrall, and being poorly put together, did
not provide adequate evidence for fiming the date of its construstion.

The framin; of the house was therefore carefully examined
with these counsiderations in »ind. Thils indicated that there hsad
originally been no door from the main hall on the second floor directly
leading to the northwest second {loor room, and that the passage ex-
isting in this location in 1528 had been cut through, probably
involvin, a change in tho stalrway, &% a later time, The arrangomont
of floor timbers in the northwest second floor room also indicated
that the nouse had Leen framed originelly for e larger staire. Since
extonsive changes soms to have beon made in the building ebout 18350, it
is likely that the passage was out through about that time, This
tied in with structural evidence that the second floor mnorthwest room
had originally been reached by a doorway from the southwest room,
which General end lrs. Washington are sald to heve occupiede. The changes
of about 1830, resulting in separating these two rooms and making both
accessible from the hall only, were doubtless dictated by the then
inerecasing emphasie on privacy.

The prosent restored stair was designed to fit the ori_insl
Iremin,. Unfcriunetely, nc evicence camo to light, either from
rhysical or decumentary sources, as to its exact form. Lowever, the
design has been kept as siumple as possible, conformable to the requiree
ments of space and locel Cclonial precedent for the halusters and trim.

This statement is Lesed upon the documentary study of Wache
ington's liemdquarters preparec by the writer, the architectural report
prepared by Acsociate Architect Tnomas T, Viatermen, who was in charge
of plannin_. the recstoration, and upon other researeh done by the writer,
For further deteils, photoyraphs, and plans relating to the restoration,
inguirin_ visitors should be advised to consult with Superintendent EKahler.
The reports in question may be {reely consulted by visitors upon request.

September 7, 1939.



